1964

Reliance National Life Insurance Co. v. William P. Hansen : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff, Reliance National Life Insurance Company, for the rescission of a written contract of employment, between plaintiff and defendant, William P. Hansen. The plaintiff claims that certain fraudulent statements made by defendant during the preliminary negotiations induced plaintiff to

enter into the employment contract, and that at the time the statements were made by defendant, he knew them to be false and misleading. Plaintiff further claims that after the contract had been signed by both parties, the defendant conducted himself in such a manner that there were reasonable grounds to terminate the contract for cause.

As a result of the foregoing, plaintiff contends all monies paid to the defendant under the contract and all expenses incurred by virtue of his employment should be returned, and that defendant have no rights by reason thereof.

Defendant counterclaimed and alleged that there are certain monies due him by virtue of the contract of employment, as well as commissions earned after the contract had been terminated.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court. From a judgment for defendant of "no cause of action on plaintiff's complaint," and an award of \$3,500.00 on two separate counts of the defendant's counterclaim, plaintiff appeals. The first part of the counterclaim involves the severing of that portion of the contract dealing with the airplane from the contract as a whole; the second, commissions earned after the contract was terminated. The judgment further provides that the defendant's contract of employment was "terminated for cause"

and ,therefore, defendant was not entitled to receive any monies that accrued in the form of bonuses or override commissions. The plaintiff appeals upon the grounds that the judgment of the court is not supported by the Findings of Fact.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal from that portion of the Lower Court's judgment which finds that the defendant may recover the unpaid balance (\$2,500.00) due on the airplane. The plaintiff also seeks reversal from that portion of the Lower Court's judgment which finds that the defendant is entitled to recover certain commissions claimed to have been earned after the employment contract was terminated. The plaintiff further seeks recovery of all monies paid under the contract, as well as the expenses incurred in the maintenance of the airplane referred to above, along with all payments made while the airplane was in the possession of the plaintiff, plaintiff having assumed the original purchase contract.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff is a corporation organized on January 26, 1954, for the purpose of selling life insurance. Frank B. Salisbury helped organize the company, and since its incorporation has actively managed the company as its president. (R. 59, 60). In June of 1961,

Salisbury saw an advertisement in a bulletin called "The Western Underwriter" outlining the qualifications of the defendant, Mr. Hansen. (R. 61). After the original contact between Salisbury and Mr. Hansen, negotiations were entered into, and preliminary to the signing of the employment contract, (P. Exh. 1), Mr. Hansen made the following representations which were false, and known to be false, at the time made:

- (a) Defendant had a presently existing sales organization which defendant would bring with him to Plaintiff company. (R. 63).
- (b) Defendant had developed a way of selling mutual funds and insurance policies in a package and that this program had been approved by the insurance commissioner of Utah and the S.E.C. (R. 63, 64, 65).
- (c) Defendant had developed sales material to be used by insurance salesmen in selling a package consisting of mutual funds and insurance policies, and this sales material had been approved by the insurance commissioner. (R. 75, 104) (P. Exh. 23).
- (d) Defendant had successfully field tested this program. (R. 64).

Also, during preliminary talks the defendant represented that an airplane he owned was necessary for the success of the sales program. (R. 233). As a result, plaintiff agreed to accept an assignment of defendant's equity in the airplane for a total consideration of \$4,000.00. One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$1,500.00) of this amount was paid defendant on the day

the employment contract was signed, the balance was due on or before January 20, 1962. This was made a part of the contract of employment. (P. Exh. 1).

During the first part of September, plaintiff acted to terminate the contract. (R. 80). After notice of termination the defendant was offered the airplane if he would repay the initial \$1,500.00, which he refused. (R. 232). The refusal was due to his financial condition at the time. (R. 242).

During the period plaintiff had possession of the airplane, it paid out a total of \$8,559.08. (R. 133). This figure includes monthly payments, insurance, maintenance, fuel, etc. (R. 133). The airplane was sold April 12, 1962.

Prior to the termination of the employment contract, plaintiff paid to defendant \$3,750.00 in salary; however, there were no bonuses paid. (R. 186).

After termination the defendant continued with the company for a short period on a commission basis. During this period defendant claims to have earned \$1,000.00 in commissions. (R. 245). The plaintiff contends if anything is due, it does not exceed \$45.00. (R. 30, 31, 32, P. Ex.).

Plaintiff presented evidence which shows it was damaged in the sum of \$20,107.30 because of defendant's false statements. (R. 133). The breakdown is as follows:

Airplane	\$8,559.08 (R. 133)
Commissions, etc.	4,497.22 (R. 133)
New Sales Program, etc.	3,301.00 (R. 133)
Salary paid defendant	3,750.00 (R. 186)

POINT I

THE COURT'S CONCLUSION OF LAW WHEREIN IT FOUND "NO CAUSE OF ACTION" ON PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT, AND YET FOUND AS A FACT THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF FALSE AND FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATIONS IN THE NEGOTIATIONS PRELIMINARY TO THE SIGNING OF THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT ARE ERRONEOUS.

The Findings of Fact as accepted by the court are not disputed by the defendant in that no cross appeal was filed. The pertinent provisions are:

"1. Plaintiff is a corporation organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Utah, and is duly authorized to engage in the insurance business in the State of Utah.

2. Frank B. Salisbury is the President of Plaintiff corporation.

3. Defendant is an experienced insurance salesman and has served in administrative capacities with various insurance companies in the State of Utah.

4. The defendant inserted a notice in an insurance journal to the effect that he was seeking employment with an insurance company. Pursuant to this notice, defendant was personally interviewed by Frank B. Salisbury concerning the possibility of defendant being employed by plaintiff. Salisbury made no search of defendant's past record.

5. *The defendant made the following representations of fact to Frank B. Salisbury for the purpose of inducing plaintiff to enter into an employment contract with the defendant:*

- a. Defendant had a presently existing sales organization which defendant would bring with him to Plaintiff company.
- b. Defendant had developed a way of selling mutual funds and insurance policies in a package and that this program had been approved by the insurance commissioner.
- c. Defendant had developed sales material to be used by insurance salesmen in selling a package consisting of mutual funds and insurance policies, and this sales material had been approved by the insurance commissioner.
- d. Defendant had successfully field tested this program.

6. *The statements made by defendant to plaintiff, as set forth under Finding of Fact No. 5, were false and were known by defendant to be false at the time they were made.*

7. *Plaintiff would not have entered into any contract with defendant had it not been for the false statements by defendant to plaintiff, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 5.*

8. *In reliance on the statements made by defendant to plaintiff, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 5, plaintiff entered into a written contract with defendant which was received in evidence as Pretrial Exhibit 1, pursuant to which plaintiff agreed as follows:*

- a. *To assume the purchase contract of a certain airplane being purchased by defendant and to pay defendant the sum of \$4,000.00 for defendant's equity in the same.*
- b. *To pay defendant a bonus in an amount equal to 1% of all first year premiums on life insurance business collected by plaintiff during the defendant's employment with plaintiff.*
- c. *To pay defendant a salary of \$1,500.00 per month.*
- d. *To pay defendant a bonus based on the difference between the cost of acquiring new business and 100% of the amount of premium received of new business.*

9. *The contract of employment between plaintiff and defendant, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 8, was terminated by plaintiff for cause due to the following acts of the defendant:*

- a. *The defendant was directed to sell the afore-said airplane and made no effort to do so.*
- b. *The defendant was instructed not to approach the insurance department of the State of Idaho*

in regard to the Estate Accumulator Policy. Nevertheless, the defendant did consult with that department with negative results to the prejudice of plaintiff.

- c. Defendant was instructed not to sell a participating policy which was being designed by plaintiff until the policy had been approved by plaintiff's actuary. Nevertheless, defendant proceeded to sell this policy before approval from the actuary was obtained.
- d. Defendant was instructed not to contact any insurance department regarding approval of the Estate Accumulator policy, but to leave this matter in the hands of the actuary for plaintiff. Nevertheless, defendant wrote the Insurance Commissioner of the State of Washington regarding approval of this policy with adverse results to plaintiff.
- e. Defendant was instructed not to use the company airplane for personal business, but nevertheless did use the airplane for personal business.

10. *The agreement of plaintiff to purchase the equity of defendant in the aforesaid airplane was a separate agreement divisible from the employment contract and the terms thereof.*

11. Plaintiff did not learn of the falsity of defendant's statements, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 5, until more than three months after plaintiff and defendant entered into the aforesaid employment contract.

12. *Plaintiff has paid the sum of \$8,268.40 on the purchase contract of the said airplane and for the up-*

keep thereof, but plaintiff has not paid defendant the sum of \$2,500.00 which plaintiff agreed to pay defendant under the terms of the aforesaid employment contract.

13. *At the time plaintiff terminated the said employment contract, plaintiff requested defendant to take possession of the said airplane and assume the burden of completing the purchase contract payments.*

14. Plaintiff paid the defendant the sum of \$3,750.00 as salary under the terms of said employment contract.

15. Subsequent to the time plaintiff terminated the said employment contract, defendant sold certain insurance policies for plaintiff, and there is now due the defendant, as commissions on such sales, the sum of \$1,000.00.

The Court having entered its Findings of Fact, now makes the following conclusions of law:

1. Defendant is not entitled to any compensation by reason of the employment contract entered into between plaintiff and defendant.
2. The agreement of plaintiff to purchase the equity of defendant in the aforesaid airplane was a separate agreement, divisible from the employment contract, the defendant is entitled to judgment against plaintiff in the sum of \$2,500.00, being the amount plaintiff agreed to pay defendant for defendant's said equity.
3. Defendant is entitled to judgment against the plaintiff in the amount of \$1,000.00 being the amount owed by plaintiff to defendant for in-

surance commissions earned by defendant subsequent to the termination of the aforesaid employment contract". (Emphasis added).

A contract induced by fraud is voidable at the option of the party injured by the fraud, and the defrauded party may elect to rescind the contract upon its discovery; however, he must act with reasonable promptness, 12 *Am. Jur.* 638, 639; 24 *Am Jur.* 12; *Taylor vs. Moore, et al.*, 51 P.2d 222, 87 Utah 493; *Shapiro vs. Goldberg*, 192 U.S. 232; 24 S.Ct. 259; *Levine et al. vs. Whitehouse et al.*, 109 P.2, 37 Utah 260.

Where a party sues for the rescision of a written contract, the purpose of the proceedings is to restore the defrauded party to the position he was in prior to the execution of the instrument induced by the fraud of the other contracting party. Where there has been a serious and intentional attempt to deceive, the party upon whom the fraud has been imposed must, upon its discovery, act. In the case of *Skola vs. Merrill, et al.*, 64 P.2d 185, 91 Utah 253, this court impressed this requirement upon the law of this state.

In the case presently before this Honorable Court, Mr. Salisbury, acting as president of the plaintiff, notified the defendant of the termination of the agreement, and tendered back the airplane within a matter of days after it was discovered that the representations made by the defendant were false.

The restoration of the status quo in a proper case of rescision is a two-edged sword. The courts have held that it is necessary that both parties be returned to the

position that existed prior to the contract. The party rescinding must tender back that which he received.

Thus, when the person defrauded has been induced into making expenditures as a result of misrepresentation, provided they were reasonable, these are recoverable, insofar as they have been rendered fruitless because of the deceit. *McCormick on Damages*, Ch. 18, § 122, p. 458.

In rescision the plaintiff's expenditures are naturally recoverable, with due accounting for benefits. *Johnson vs. Gilbert*, 382 P.2d 87. Ore.; *Strand Bldg. Corp vs. Russell & Saxe, Inc.*, 232 N.Y. 2d 384; *First National Bank of West Plains vs. King*, 363 S.W. 2d 590,; *Erisman vs. Overman*, 358 P.2d 85, 11 P.2d 258.

The *Erisman* case, above cited, supports the general principles of law in matters of rescision. The party rescinding must tender back everything received before the court restores the status quo between the parties. The corollary of this rule is also accepted, that where there is fraud involved, and a timely tender made, the defrauded party has the right to receive back what has been paid or given or assumed under a contract.

POINT II

THE COURT REACHED ERRONEOUS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW FROM THE FACTS FOUND WHEREIN IT AWARDED JUDGMENT FOR THE DEFENDANT BASED UP-

ON THE SEVERABILITY OF THAT PORTION OF THE CONTRACT DEALING WITH THE AIRPLANE.

In considering the question of fraud and misrepresentation the party seeking relief must allege and prove what representations were made, that they were false and known to be so by the party charged, and that the party seeking relief believed the representation to be true and that he acted upon them and was injured thereby.

In light of the foregoing, it must be said, based upon the findings of the court, that this was accomplished, and, therefore, the judgment finding severable that portion of the contract dealing with the airplane is erroneous. All of the evidence points to the fact that the airplane was represented to be essential to success of the total program that defendant outlined to Salisbury. The record is as follows:

Mr. Barker

“Q. Do you recall any other statements which he made to you?

Mr. Salisbury

“A. He stated that in order put forth this program, to put forth this program, to put it into effect and contact these salesmen throughout the state, that he had to have the Mooney airplane that he had at the time, and in order to put this program into effect it would be necessary for our company to assume the obligation that he had on this Mooney airplane so that he could fly it throughout the various places in the state and con-

tact these men that he had that would come with us.

“Q. Did he make any statements as to the use he had previously made of this airplane?

“A. He said that it had proven very valuable to him, and anytime I wasn’t convinced that it was a profitable venture to have an airplane, that he could get rid of it at any time without loss to us. That is to the company.

* * * *

Mr. Barker

“Q. I will get into specifics. As far as this airplane is concerned, did he not resist the inclusion of this airplane in the contract, in this contract all the way?

Mr. Hansen

“A. He did resist the inclusion of the airplane.

“Q. In the representations that were made on the airplane, did you not tell him that you had used this airplane extensively in the program that you had field tested?

“A. I told him that we had used it to our advantage.

“Q. And that if the present program that you were presenting to him for his acceptance was to be successful that you had to have that airplane?

“A. There wasn’t any hinge on the success of the program at all. The idea was that the airplane would facilitate matters, moving through the 11-state area that Reliance was in at that time much more rapidly and an easier problem than if I were to go to commercial airlines, and that was the only commitment, for that statement.

“Q. And did you not tell him that in your experience with airplanes and this particular type of airplane, that the airplane could readily be disposed of without loss?

“A. I never said anything like ‘without loss,’ because naturally there is natural depreciation.

“Q. Without loss other than depreciation?

“A. This would be the normal. ‘We can always sell it,’ were my terms as I recall it, and that was all.”

The airplane was therefore made an integral part of the misrepresented facts, and it is evident that the plaintiff would not have assumed the defendant’s equity in the airplane but for his grossly false statements.

Where a contract involves several parts, yet make up one transaction, fraud in one part vitiates the entire agreement. *Meredith vs. Ramsdell*, 384 P.2d 941, Colo. 2d

To the same effect is the case of *Anson vs. Grace*, 117 N.W. 2d 117 N.W.2d 529, 174 Neb. 2d 258.

Therefore, the court erred in granting the defendant the sum of \$2,500.00 as the unpaid portion of the price of defendant’s equity in the airplane.

POINT III

A JUDGMENT MAY NOT BE BASED UPON MERE CONJECTURE, SURMISE OR SPECULATION, AND THE COURT THUS

ERRED WHEREIN IT AWARDED A JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANT FOR THE COMMISSIONS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN EARNED AFTER THE TERMINATION OF THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT.

The burden of proof requires the party carrying it to prove to the court the fact upon which his case depends, by a preponderance of greater weight of the credible evidence. To create a preponderance of evidence, the evidence must be sufficient to overcome the opposing proposition as well as the opposing evidence. The trier of a case, when doubts arise concerning the weight of the evidence, must find for the side whereon the doubts have less weight.

The only evidence offered by the defendant concerning the claimed commissions was his statement found on page 245 of the record, which is as follows:

“Q. By Mr. Tuft) As to commissions, Mr. Hansen, did you keep track of the commissions due you?

“A. I had no way because the company was keeping up most of those, but I do have track of the contracts and can calculate them, and that should be, in round figures, approximately \$1,000.00.

“Q. To the best of your belief, \$1,000.00?

“A. Yes.”

His excuse for not having more was, that all of the records concerning the sales and payments made there-

under were in the possession and control of the plaintiff. The plaintiff introduced all of its records. (See Exh.). There is contained in the record a summary of these records and it is found on pages 31 and 32. According to the corporation records, which are by far the best evidence, there is due to Mr. Hansen the amount of \$43.62.

A verdict may not lawfully be predicated upon mere conjecture or speculation, and in this case that is the only way the court could arrive at its conclusion.

The defendant, having the burden of proof insofar as the claimed commissions are concerned, was obligated to establish the fact alleged by evidence at least sufficient to destroy the validity of the corporate records. Can it be said that an estimate is sufficient to do this? The defendant did not, at any time, question the completeness of the corporate records, nor did he produce any records of his own to show that the records were not accurate.

Therefore, it would appear that there is no real evidence in the record upon which the court could justly find in favor of the defendant. From the evidence adduced at the trial the court erred in granting a judgment for the defendant for the sum of \$1,000.00, when in fact, there was only \$43.62 due.

CONCLUSION

This court should set aside the determination of the Lower Court that the plaintiff's complaint be dismissed "no cause of action" and award to the plaintiff the damages proved by a preponderance of the evidence, in the amount of \$20,107.30, because of the proven fact of fraud in the inducement of the employment contract. The court should also find that since the award to the defendant of \$2,500.00 was based upon the severability of that portion of the contract dealing with the airplane, from the contract as a whole, was wrong. The court should further find that if there is any amount due and owing to the defendant, that that sum does not exceed \$43.62 and that amount may be offset against the \$20,107.30, which the plaintiff has proven.