# **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

# Reliance National Life Insurance Co. v. William P. Hansen: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

#### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

Reliance National Life Insurance Company, plaintiff in the lower court, appealed from a judgement, of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, granting defendant William P. Hansen "no cause of action" from the plaintiff's claim and, further, granting defendant's counterclaim for monies due him by virtue of an additional contract of employment for commissions earned and for the sale of an airplane by the defendant to the plaintiff.

# DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court, resulting in a judgment for the defendant of "no cause of action on plaintiff's complaint" and the awarding of \$3,500.00 on two separate counts of defendant's counterclaim, from which the plaintiff appeals. The Court further found that the portion of the original contract dealing with the sale of the airplane was severable from the contract as a whole; that subsequent commissions were earned after the original contract of employment was terminated. The plaintiff appeals on the grounds that the judgement of the lower court is not supported by the Findings of Fact.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent, being defendant in the lower court, seeks to uphold the judgment of the lower court granting the "no cause of action" on plaintiff's complaint and the award in favor of the defendant on two separate counts of defendant's counterclaim.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent accepts the appellant's Statement of Facts as outlined in "Plaintiff's Brief" as being in substantial conformity with the Findings of Fact entered by the Court, with the following exceptions:

- 1. The defendant presented evidence which showed that the plaintiff did not take diligent care to inquire into the background and history of the defendant when the plaintiff had opportunity of ascertaining such background of the defendant, and the defendant requested the plaintiff to do so.
- 2. Respondent does not admit hereby that the representations charged to respondent were false; and fur-

ther, respondent does not agree that appellant has suffered any damage by reason thereof.

Respondent feels that although appellant has divided its argument into three points, all three points in reality relate to the same legal principles. Therefore, respondent will not answer appellant's arguments point by point, but will answer all points raised in "Plaintiff's Brief" under Point II hereof.

#### STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I. THE CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT WAS NOT TERMINATED BECAUSE OF ANY MISREPRESENTATION BUT WAS TERMINATED ON OTHER GROUNDS, and THEREFORE NO DAMAGES NOR RESCISSION FOR FRAUD OR MISREPRESENTATION CAN BE CLAIMED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE CONTRACT FOR THE SALE OF THE AIRPLANE, and DEFENDANT'S CLAIM FOR COMMISSIONS WERE SEVERABLE FROM THE BASIC CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT.

#### ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN THE PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT WAS NOT TERMINATED BECAUSE OF ANY MISREPRESENTATION BUT WAS TERMINATED ON OTHER GROUNDS, AND THEREFORE NO DAMAGES NOR RESCISSION FOR FRAUD OR MISREPRESENTATION CAN BE CLAIMED BY THE PLAINTIFF.

The trial court's Findings of Fact No. 9 set forth the reason for which defendant's employment contract was terminated by plaintiff as follows:

- "9. The contract of employment between plaintiff and defendant, as set forth in Finding of Fact No. 8. was terminated by plaintiff for cause due to the following acts of the defendant:
  - a. The defendant was directed to sell the aforesaid airplane and made no effort to do so.
  - b. The defendant was instructed not to approach the insurance department of the State of Idaho in regard to the Estate Accumulator Policy. Nevertheless, the defendant did consult with that department with negative results to the prejudice of plaintiff.
  - c. Defendant was instructed not to sell a participating policy which was being designed by plaintiff until the policy had been approved by plaintiff's actuary. Nevertheless, defendant proceeded to sell this policy before approval from the actuary was obtained.
  - d. Defendant was instructed not to control any insurance department regarding approval of the Estate Accumulator policy, but to leave this matter in the hands of the actuary for plaintiff. Nevertheless, defendant wrote the Insurance Commissioner of the State of Washington regarding approval of this policy with adverse results to plaintiff.
  - e. Defendant was instructed not to use the company airplane for personal business, but nevertheless did use the airplane for personal business.

This finding clearly shows that the plaintiff did not terminate the defendant's contract because of fraud or any alleged misrepresentation but rather on other grounds. Therefore, the lower court was correct in denying the plaintiff damages or rescission on the grounds of fraud, inasmuch as fraud was not alleged nor found to be related to the cause of the termination of the employment contract.

POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE CONTRACT FOR THE SALE OF THE AIRPLANE, AND DEFENDANT'S CLAIM FOR COMMISSIONS WERE SEVERABLE FROM THE BASIC CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT.

In its brief appellant cites the case of Taylor vs. Moore, et al, 51 P.2d 222, 87 Utah 493, and contends that it stands for the proposition that a contract induced by fraud is voidable at the option of the party injured by the fraud. However, this reflects only a portion of the holding in that case, and was taken out of context. Further reading of the Taylor case shows that the Court held that a person who has the opportunity of knowing facts constituting alleged fraud cannot be inactive and afterwards allege want of knowledge arising by reason of his negligence or laches. In this case, the evidence clearly shows that the plaintiff, or its president, Salisbury, did not investigate defendant's references. As set forth in Finding of Fact No. 4:

"... Salisbury made no search of defendant's past record." Further, from Salisbury's testimony at trial, and the testimony of the defendant, it appears that Salisbury had opportunity to check into the background of the defendant and was implored to do so by the defendant himself. It seems then, the plaintiff did not exercise diligent care to check into the background of the defendant. Hansen, and thereby is guilty of

laches and precluded from later raising this objectic against the defendant. This also seems implicit in the findings of the trial court that defendant was dis harged for cause, and not by reason of any misrepresentations made at the time of his employment.

It is interesting to note that the Taylor case, as cited by the appellant, is quite explicit on the duties of the person complaining of fraud to investigate facts constituting the alleged fraud. Therefore, the trial court's finding in Finding of Fact No. 5, that Salisbury did not know until three months later of any misrepresentations, is indicative of the plaintiff's inaction and negligence in checking on the representations of the defendant.

Notwithstanding the fact that fraud might be found in the basic employment contract, the question that is foremost before this Court is whether or not such fraud affected the agreement for the sale of the airplane and the payment of the defendant of commissions earned subsequent to the termination of the basic employment contract. There have been several tests outlined by the courts and legal texts to determine whether or not portions of contracts are severable and whether, if the contracts are found to be severable, fraud in one portion would travel to other portions of the contracts. The general rule seems to be that the tests for severability evolve upon intention, divisibility of subject matter, and apportionment of consideration (See 17 A Corpus Juris Secundum, Contracts Secs. 331-335.) With respect to the instant case each test is met as follows:

1. Intention: It is clear from the evidence that the intention was to make a separate contract for the sale of the airplane on terms different from the defendant's employment contract. This is evidenced by the fact that from the outset plaintiff was in-

terested in the possibility of re-sale of this aircraft, even though its intention was that the defendant would still be working for plaintiff. Therefore, it appears that the intention of both the plaintiff and the defendant was that the disposition of the aircraft would not automatically terminate defendant's employment contract with plaintiff. Thus, the parties clearly intended the contract to be severable. (See Baker vs. Jones, 240 P. 2d 1165, 1171; 69 Wyo. 314.)

- 2. Divisibility of Subject Matter: It is clear from the record that the plaintiff and defendant were dealing with two different subject matters, to wit: insurance sales vis-a-vis the sale of an airplane. The case of Coppedge vs. Leiser, 229 P. 2d 977, 71 Ida. 248, outlines the divisibility of subject matter as a valid test to determine the severability of portions of a contract. It is clear from the record that this contract in question meets the tests of divisibility of subject matter, and therefore the sale of the airplane and the commissions paid are severable from the basic employment contract.
- 3. The Apportionment of Consideration and Method of Payment: The rule that where a contract calls for a different mode of payment or an apportionment of consideration among different parties, schedule of payment or apportionment is a valid criteria upon which to base a decision that portions of the contract are severable from one another. In the cases of Simmons vs. California Institute of Technology, 209 P. 2d 589, 34 C. 2d 264, and Sweet vs. Watson's Nurseries, 73 P. 2d 284, 23 Cal. App 379, the test was outlined whereby apportionment of consideration was used to determine that portions of interests were severable. Applying this to the present case, the basic employment contract called

for one means of compensation for the purchase of the aircraft, to and including continued payments to a third party for future payments on the aircraft, and a separate means of compensation to the defendant for duties as a Sales Manager. As to the sale of policies after termination of the basic employment contract, still another method of compensation and mode of payment was devsed.

It is the respondent's argument that, based upon the tests as outlined above and the tests as outlined in 12 Am. Jur. Contracts 315-316, the case at hand clearly fits within the rule that even though an agreement embrace several particulars about one affair and be reached through one agreement, it may yet have the nature and operation of several different contracts and be treated as severable portions of a basic contract. U. S. vs. Bethlehem Steel Corporation, 315 U. S. 389, 86 L. ed. 855, 62 S. Ct. 581.

Since the agreements pertaining to the sale of the airplane and to the commissions earned after termination of the employment contract are severable from the basic employment contract, any fraud that may exist with respect to the basic employment contract does not carry over and apply to the severable portions. Any misrepresentation as to the basic contract was not material as to the severable portions, and therefore should not apply so as to make voidable those portions of the contract dealing with the sale of the airplane and the commissions earned. (See Hecht vs. Metzler, 14 Utah 408, 48 Pac. 37.)

Furthermore, there was no fraud proved or even alleged in the lower court as to the sale of the airplane. In light of the case of U. S. vs. Arrendondo, 6 Pet. (U.S.) 691, 8 L. ed. 547, the fraud must be relevant to the subject matter of the contract in order to apply.

With respect to the \$1,000.00 awarded respondent for commissions earned subsequent to the termination of respondent's employment contract, respondent asserts that appellant has accepted the benefits of sales giving rise to the commissions and that to permit appellant to defeat respondent's claim thereto by reason of some unrelated misrepresentations will unjustly enrich appellant. The trial court found the amount of commissions earned subsequent to the termination of the basic employment contract to be \$1,000.00. This is supported by evidence in the record, as set forth in the extract quoted on page 18 of appellant's brief. It is true that appellant presented conflicting evidence. However, appellant did not object to respondent's testimony and the trial judge chose to believe the evidence of the defendant supporting this amount. The respondent believes the findings of the trial judge, that the amount in dispute was actually \$1,000.00 owed to the defendant, should be upheld on the ground that the trial judge was in the best position to observe and determine the reliability of the witnesses and the accuracy of the evidence offered by them.

#### CONCLUSION

The respondent respectfully submits, that the findings and decisions of the lower court were reasonable and in accordance with law; and further submits that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law should be upheld.